Case No. 82263

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed May 27 2021 05:47 p.m.

NEVADA GAMING COMMISSION, A POLITICAL SUBDIFICION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA; AND NEVADA GAMING CONTROLERO SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Appellants,

v.

STEPHEN A. WYNN, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT CASE No. A-20-809249-J

JOINT OPENING BRIEF

AARON D. FORD Nevada Attorney General STEVE SHEVORSKI (Bar No. 8256) Chief Litigation Counsel 555 E. Washington Ave., Ste. 3900 Las Vegas, NV 89101 Attorneys for Appellant Nevada Gaming Control Board AARON D. FORD
Nevada Attorney General
DARLENE B. CARUSO (Bar No. 5866)

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP") 3A(b)(1) and NRAP 4(a)(4)(C)-(D). Nevada Gaming Control Board ("Board") and Nevada Gaming Commission ("Commission") appeal from a final judgment. Written notice of entry of the judgment was entered and served on November 25, 2020. Appendix ("App."). JA0625. The Board and the Commission timely appealed on December 23, 2020. JA0643 and JA0665.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This Court should retain jurisdiction to hear this appeal because it raises issues of statewide importance. The court below erroneously adopted a novel rule permitting district court review of interlocutory Commission decisions. It then used its newfound authority to hold that an individual can halt the Board's ongoing investigation of him and avoid Commission discipline by unilaterally severing his existing relationship with a gaming licensee. The district court's order impermissibly intrudes on the Board and the Commission's ability to discharge their duties under the Gaming Control Act.

This Court should clarify that the Board and the Commission's jurisdiction, once acquired over an individual found suitable to be associated with a gaming licensee, is not nullified by the individual's unilateral exit. This Court should also

reiterate that district courts should not use extraordinary relief as a vehicle to intrude into the Commission's dominion over discipline in the gaming industry.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Where NRS 463.315 limits judicial review to final orders on the merits, did the district court have jurisdiction to consider Respondent Stephen A. Wynn's petition for judicial review of the Commission's interlocutory denial of his motion to dismiss?
- 2. Do any or all of the Commission's five separate, independent bases for subject matter jurisdiction require denial of Wynn's petition?

INTRODUCTION

Over 50 years ago, this Court made "emphatically clear" that courts must not obstruct the Nevada Gaming Commission's administrative hearings nor "block the Gaming Control Board in its effort to discharge assigned duties." *Gaming Control Bd. v. Dist. Ct.*, 82 Nev. 38, 40, 409 P.2d 974, 975 (1966). Nevada's control over gaming in the State is in doubt if the Gaming Control Act's administrative procedures are not allowed to operate as intended by the Legislature. *Id.* The district court's review of the Commission's interlocutory order denying Wynn's motion to dismiss violates this precedent. The district court had no authority to review the Commission's order, much less issue a writ terminating it.

The district court erred in framing the issue presented in this case as whether Wynn could be found suitable at the present moment—after divestment of his Wynn Resorts interests. Properly understood, however, this case asks whether the Board is empowered to recommend revocation, after a previous finding of suitability, and whether the Commission has power to impose such discipline. The unambiguous language of the Gaming Control Act answers these questions in the affirmative.

Wynn cannot, on the one hand, embrace the Board and Commission's suitability finding to facilitate his rise in the gaming industry and then, through unilateral action, escape the Board and Commission's scrutiny of his suitability status. The Legislature granted the Board and the Commission full and absolute power to revoke any previous finding of suitability—power that they utilized here. Wynn's role as an innovator in the gaming industry, a man who reinvented modern Las Vegas, occurred under the watch of the Board and the Commission. Wynn accepted the benefit of the Board and the Commission's regulatory power, and Nevada law does not permit him to now escape scrutiny at his whim. The district court's order permitting him to do so violates both the language and the spirit of the Gaming Control Act. This Court must reverse the district court's order.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Board filed a complaint in the Commission seeking discipline against
Wynn for alleged violations of the Nevada Gaming Control Act (the "Gaming

Control Act") and Commission regulations. Wynn moved to dismiss, and the Commission denied his motion. Wynn then filed a petition for judicial review and/or a writ of prohibition or mandamus in the Eighth Judicial district court. The Board and the Commission separately opposed Wynn's petition and countermoved to dismiss it. The district court granted the petition and denied the countermotions to dismiss. The Board and Commission both timely filed notices of appeal from the order granting the petition and denying the countermotions.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Statutory Background

A. The Board and the Commission have "[f]ull and absolute power" to revoke "any" suitability finding.

In the late 1950's Nevada's Legislature enacted the Gaming Control Act. NRS 463.010. A few years later, the Legislature created the Board and the Commission. NRS 463.022, 463.030.

The Gaming Control Act created a framework for regulating Nevada's gaming industry. The Commission is to craft regulations to enforce and administer the Gaming Control Act. NRS 463.150. But such is the Commission's expansive jurisdiction over Nevada's gaming industry that its powers are not limited to specific enumerated ones described by the Gaming Control Act:

The Commission may exercise any proper power and authority necessary to perform the duties assigned to it by

the Legislature, and is not limited by any enumeration of powers in this chapter.

NRS 463.143.

The Legislature recognized that "[t]he gaming industry is vitally important to the economy of the State and the general welfare of [Nevadans]..." NRS 463.129(1)(a). Because of gaming's role in Nevada, the Legislature found that "[p]ublic confidence and trust can only be maintained by strict regulations of persons, locations practices, associations and activities related to the operation of licensed gaming establishments..." NRS 463.129(1)(c).

Only suitable persons may be associated with gaming in Nevada. Suitability does not concern a person's temporal connection to a particular license, but more broadly their worthiness to be associated with gaming in this State. The Legislature explained in NRS 463.170(4), "[a]n application to receive a license or be found suitable constitutes a request for a determination of the applicant's general character, integrity, and ability to participate or engage in, or be associated with gaming..." NRS 463.170(4). The Commission and the Board must continue to observe the conduct of all licensees and persons having material direct or indirect involvement with a licensed gaming operation. NRS 463.1405(1).

Nothing in the Gaming Control Act limits the Board's investigatory power to a person's active connection to a licensee. Under the Gaming Control Act, the Board may "determine whether there has been any violation of [Chapter 463] or chapter

368A, 462, 464, 465, 466 of NRS or any regulations adopted thereunder." NRS 463.310(1). The Legislature empowered the Board, "after any investigation," to recommend revocation of a finding of suitability. NRS 463.310(2)(a).

Nor does anything in the Gaming Control Act limit the Board's power to initiate a complaint to persons with an active connection to a licensee. The Board initiates disciplinary proceedings by filing a complaint and transmitting a summary of the evidence. NRS 463.310(2)(b). A "respondent" means "any licensee or other person..." NRS 463.0187. The Board has "full and absolute power" to recommend revocation of "any" finding of suitability. NRS 463.1405(3). The Commission similarly "has full and absolute power and authority" to revoke "any" finding of suitability. NRS 463.1405(4). Such discipline can be recommended by the Board or approved by the Commission "for any cause deemed reasonable." NRS 463.1405(3)-(4).

Notably, the Legislature created a punishment beyond a person's disassociation with the gaming license to whom their suitability determination was appended. Persons whose suitability has been revoked cannot play a role in gaming through indirect means. After a revocation of a finding of suitability, licensees are prohibited from paying or employing unsuitable persons, after written notice from the Commission. NRS 463.645(1)-(3).

B. Judicial review is available only for final decisions.

The Gaming Control Act describes when judicial review is available. After a contested matter hearing, it requires the Commission to "render a written decision on the merits" that "contain[s] findings of fact, a determination of the issues presented and the penalty to be imposed, if any." NRS 463.3145(1). Judicial review is available only for persons aggrieved by "a final decision or order of the Commission made after hearing or rehearing by the Commission pursuant to NRS 463.312 to 463.3145..." NRS 463.315(1), NRS 463.318(2).

II. The Board's Disciplinary Complaint Against Wynn

Until he severed his relationship with Wynn Resorts, Wynn was its chief executive officer, chairman, and controlling shareholder. JA0001. Wynn Resorts is a publicly traded company. JA0003. Wynn Resorts owns Wynn Las Vegas, LLC ("Wynn LV"), which holds a nonrestricted gaming license. *Id*.

In early 2018, the *Wall Street Journal* published an article titled "Dozens of People Recount Pattern of Sexual Misconduct by Las Vegas Mogul Steve Wynn." JA0004. The *Journal*'s article detailed several allegations. It reported that Wynn paid \$7.5 million to resolve a Wynn LV manicurist's allegations that he subject her to unwelcome sexual conduct, which Wynn LV failed to investigate despite a supervisor's complaint to human resources. *Id.* The *Journal* asserted that there were further instances of unwelcome sexual conduct by Mr. Wynn with employees. *Id.*

The Board launched an investigation of Wynn that lasted approximately 7 months. JA0008. The Board's investigators reviewed an internal investigation by Wynn Resorts; conducted interviews with current and former employees; and reviewed the public documents from several lawsuits that detailed allegations of unwelcome sexual conduct by Wynn, confidential settlement agreements between Wynn, Wynn Resorts, and employees, and Wynn Resorts policies and procedures pertaining to sexual harassment and personal relationships between managers and subordinate employees at the company. JA0006-7.

After considering this information, the Board found evidence of unwelcome sexual conduct by Wynn with subordinate employees. JA0008. Wynn described all sexual interactions as consensual. *Id.* However, he appeared oblivious to the power differential between himself and subordinate employees that were dependent upon his good opinion for their livelihoods. *Id.*

Wynn attempted to thwart any investigation of his conduct with subordinate employees. Wynn entered into several confidential settlement agreements with non-disclosure clauses. *Id.* The Board issued an Order to Appear requiring Wynn to testify at an Investigative Hearing, but he did not show up. *Id.*

In January 2019, the Board filed a complaint against Wynn Resorts. JA0009. A month later Wynn Resorts entered into a stipulated settlement. *Id.* It paid a \$20 million fine. *Id.* It also admitted that Wynn engaged in sexual misconduct with

employees, that he failed to comply with Wynn Resorts policies to maintain a professional work environment, that Wynn Resorts' failure to follow its polices led to several uninvestigated reports of unwelcome sexual conduct by Wynn, and that Wynn's conduct was unsuitable and inappropriate considering the power disparity between him and non-managerial employees. *Id*.

Nevada's investigation of Wynn Resorts and Wynn was not the only one conducted. Wynn Resorts was investigated by the State of Massachusetts. JA0010. The report of the Massachusetts Investigations and Enforcement Bureau cited to a written statement by Wynn wherein he admitted to several relationships but claimed that he was unaware of whether he violated Wynn Resorts' policies because he was unfamiliar with their terms. *Id.* Massachusetts fined Wynn Resorts \$35 million and imposed an additional fine of \$500,000 against its then-CEO Matthew Maddox. *Id.* ¹

III. The Commission's Denial of Wynn's Motion to Dismiss

The Board filed a complaint against Wynn. JA0001. The Board prayed that the Commission revoke Wynn's finding of suitability under NRS 463.310(4), fine Wynn a sum for each of his alleged violations of the Gaming Control Act and the Commission's regulations, and for such further relief as the Commission deemed

¹ The facts set out here reflect the Board's administrative complaint. If the Commission's disciplinary proceedings resumes, the Board will have the burden of proving the facts alleged. Nothing in this brief has the purpose or effect of prejudging any factual dispute that may arise in the Commission's disciplinary proceeding.

appropriate. JA0023. Wynn moved to dismiss on subject matter jurisdiction grounds. JA0027.

The Commission agreed with the Board that subject matter jurisdiction First, the Legislature granted "[t]he existed on five separate grounds. Commission...full and absolute power to...revoke...any finding of suitability." JA0259, (citing NRS 463.1405(4)). **Second**, the Legislature mandated that the Commission review complaints filed by the Board and conduct proper procedural activities in accord with the Gaming Control Act, including revoking a finding of suitability. *Id.* (citing NRS 463.310(4)(b)). **Third**, the Legislature empowered the Commission to fine persons who were found suitable, but who violated Nevada law or regulations. *Id.* at 3:24-28 and 4:1 (citing NRS 463.310(4)(d)). Fourth, as a necessary corollary to the Board's power to compel the attendance of witnesses to render meaningful the Board's investigatory power, the Commission has subject matter jurisdiction over complaints that seek to fine witnesses that disregard the Board's Order to Appear. JA0260 at 4:2-11 (citing 463.140(5)). Fifth, the Commission's duties of "strict regulation of all persons...related to the operation of licensed gaming establishments" would be nullified if the subject of the Commission and the Board's observation and an investigation (see NRS 463.140, 463.1405, 463.310, 453.3145) could unilaterally strip the Commission of subject matter jurisdiction. Id. at 4:12-25 (quoting NRS 463.0129(1)(c)). Wynn and the Board

stayed proceedings before the Commission while he pursued relief in the district court. JA0262.

IV. Proceedings Before the District Court

Until he severed his relationship in March 2018, Wynn was entrenched with Wynn Resorts. Wynn founded the company, named it after himself, served as its chief executive officer, and was chairman of its board of directors. JA0266. Even Wynn concedes that he subjected himself to the Board and the Commission's jurisdiction by founding Wynn Resorts in 2005. JA0267.

Wynn's position in his suit is simple. It is not that he wasn't subject to the Board and the Commission's jurisdiction whilst at Wynn Resorts, but that he possessed the unilateral power to evade investigation and potential discipline by jumping ship from the gaming licensee. JA0271. Even though the Commission disagreed in an interlocutory order, he sought review under NRS 463.315, or alternatively, sought a writ to prevent the Board and the Commission from exercising power over him. JA0275-77.

Wynn petitioned for judicial review and/or writ of mandamus/prohibition.

JA0308. The district court granted Wynn's petition and issued a writ of prohibition.

JA0611. Relying principally on NRS 463.1405(1), Wynn contended that the Board's subject matter jurisdiction over discipline pertaining to his conduct at Wynn Resorts ceased the moment he severed his "material involvement" with the entity

for which he was found suitable, Wynn Resorts. JA0331-32. The district court agreed. JA0618. The Board and the Commission appeal from that ruling.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Legislature foreclosed the district court's interpretation of the Gaming Control Act in the plain language of the Act itself. The Act grants the Commission "full and absolute power" to revoke a finding of suitability. NRS 463.1405(4). Wynn, who sought and accepted the Board and Commission's suitability finding, is thus subject to revocation of that status—regardless of any unilateral actions he might take to divest himself of his gaming interests while under scrutiny. Under the plain language of the Act, the district court erred in finding Wynn not subject to the Board and Commission's revocation authority. Even if Wynn were not subject to their authority on that basis, however, the Commission also found four additional, and separate, bases for its subject matter jurisdiction over him.

The district court's single-minded reliance on NRS 463.1405(1)—to the exclusion of virtually every other provision in the Gaming Control Act—was in error. The Board's duty to investigate those seeking or holding a finding of suitability under NRS 463.1405(1) is independent from its "full and absolute power and authority" to discipline persons who have been "found suitable" under NRS 463.1405(3). And in any event, the Board's action here arises from its investigation

of Wynn for violations of the Gaming Control Act when Wynn was materially involved with a gaming licensee, so it is within the language of NRS 463.1405(1).

The district court's erroneous interpretation of the Gaming Control Act leaves a vexing question: how the Board and the Commission's regulatory role can function when discipline can be avoided at the sole discretion of the individual under scrutiny. Neither Wynn nor the district court made any attempt to posit an answer. Because the district court's order adopts an interpretation of the Gaming Control Act that is contrary to its plain language and to the Legislature's intent in enacting the law, its order must be reversed and vacated.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

A. This Court reviews de novo a dismissal on subject matter jurisdiction grounds.

The district court may properly dismiss a complaint when a lack of subject matter jurisdiction is apparent on the face of the complaint. *Rosequist v. Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters Local 1908*, 118 Nev. 444, 448, 49 P.3d 651, 653 (2002), *overruled on other grounds by Allstate Ins. Co. v. Thorpe*, 123 Nev. 565, 573 n.22, 170 P.3d 989, 995 n.22 (2007); *see* NRCP 12(h)(3). This court reviews a district court's order granting a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction de novo. *See Am. First Fed. Credit Union v. Soro*, 131 Nev. 737, 739, 359 P.3d 105, 106 (2015).

B. This Court defers to an agency's construction of its jurisdiction.

"Although statutory construction is generally a question of law reviewed de novo," Nevada courts "defer[] to an agency's interpretation of its governing statutes or regulations if the interpretation is within the language of the statute." Taylor v. Dep't of Health & Human Servs., 129 Nev. 928, 930, 314 P.3d 949, 951 (2013). What that has always meant is that "[a]n administrative construction that is within the language of the statute will not be readily disturbed by the courts." *Pub*. Employees' Ret. Bd. v. Washoe Cty., 96 Nev. 718, 615 P.2d 972 (1980) (citing Oliver v. Spitz, 76 Nev. 5, 348 P.2d 158 (1960)). In fact, the agency's interpretation only yields where "an alternative reading is compelled by the plain language of the provision." United States v. State Eng'r, 117 Nev. 585, 589-90, 27 P.3d 51, 53-54 (2001) (quoting S. Cal. Edison Co. v. Pub. Utilities. Comm'n, 102 Cal.Rptr.2d at 698 (Ct. App. 2000)) (citations omitted). Interpretations involving the agency's authority or jurisdiction are accorded the same deference. City of Arlington v. FCC, 569 U.S. 290, 296-97, 307 (2013) (applying analogous federal principles).

II. The District Court Did Not Have Authority to Review the Commission's Interlocutory Order

A. The Gaming Control Act bars review of interlocutory orders.

Nothing in the Gaming Control Act supports the district court's order granting Wynn's petition of judicial review. NRS 463.315(1) provides:

Any person aggrieved by a final decision or order of the Commission . . . may obtain a judicial review thereof in the district court of the county in which the petitioner resides or has his, her or its principal place of business.

Id. (emphasis added). An order denying a motion to dismiss is an interlocutory order—not a final one. *Int'l Game Tech.*, *Inc. v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 124 Nev. 193, 197, 179 P.3d 556, 558 (2008) (characterizing a denial of a motion to dismiss as "interlocutory").

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