#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Electronically Filed Jul 12 2021 01:52 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown NEVADA GAMING COMMISSION, a political subdivision of Supreme Court Nevada; and NEVADA GAMING CONTROL BOARD, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada,

Appellants,

v.

STEPHEN A. WYNN, an individual,

Respondent.

#### ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. A-20-809249-J

## **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS DONALD J. CAMPBELL (1216) djc@cwlawlv.com J. COLBY WILLIAMS (5549) jcw@cwlawlv.com PHILIP R. ERWIN (11563) pre@cwlawlv.com 710 South Seventh Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Tel. 702.382.5222

Attorneys for Respondent Stephen A. Wynn

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

The Agencies instead criticize the district court for even considering NRS 463.1405(1) and not skipping directly to the Agencies' preferred subsections of the same statute, NRS 463.1405(3) and (4), which respectively grant the Board power to recommend, and the Commission power to revoke, findings of suitability. OB at 21-23. Statutory interpretation is not, however, akin to a buffet where one can choose the language it likes while disregarding what it finds displeasing. All portions of a statute must be construed together as a whole giving the terms their plain meaning. The district court reviewed NRS 463.1405(1), (3), and (4). (JA 617-18.) When properly construed as a whole and sequentially, subsection (1) defines who can be the subject of a Board's recommendation under subsection (3), which is a necessary predicate to the Commission making a disciplinary decision under subsection (4).

The continuing existence of a person's "findings of suitability" is another necessary predicate for the Agencies' disciplinary jurisdiction. "Findings of suitability" are required when a person is "directly or indirectly involved with licensees" and, then, only for "so long as that involvement continues." Nev. Gaming Comm'n Reg. 4.030(10) (emphasis added). A finding of suitability "relates only to the specified involvement for which it was made," and is not transferable when the nature of the person's involvement with the licensee changes from that for which he or she was originally found suitable. Id. Mr. Wynn's "involvement" with Wynn Resorts undeniably changed when he resigned as an officer and director, and sold his stock. His findings of suitability ended at that point, by operation of the Commission's own regulations, so no findings of suitability remain in existence. An approval that does not exist cannot be "revoked."

The Agencies proffer three responses to the dilemma posed by Mr. Wynn's nonexistent suitability findings. Initially, the Board alleged it "retain[ed]" jurisdiction over Mr. Wynn through a so-called "administrative hold" on his findings of suitability notwithstanding that the Board removed him from its Location Detail Report on the Wynn Las Vegas license in early 2018. Neither the Commission nor the Board could identify any source of authority for an "administrative hold," and the district court properly found that nothing in the

relevant statutes or gaming regulations expressly or impliedly authorized the use of such a device to maintain perpetual jurisdiction over those who have left Nevada's gaming industry.

The Agencies additionally rely on select subsections of NRS 463.310 for the proposition that they can revoke "any" finding of suitability, which apparently means "all" suitability findings regardless of when they were issued, when a purported infraction occurred, and when a suitable person left the industry and was removed from the Board's location report. OB at 18. Respectfully, such an interpretation would not only lead to absurd results, it again ignores other subsections of the same statute that employ the present tense to limit the Agencies' disciplinary powers to a person who "is" found suitable. *See, e.g.*, NRS 463.310(2)(b); NRS 463.310(4)(d).

Lastly, the Agencies close their brief by citing several non-Nevada cases for the proposition that a person cannot avoid investigation and potential discipline through the unilateral action of surrendering a license. OB at 23-24. The argument is flawed factually and legally.

Factually, Mr. Wynn did not unilaterally surrender his findings of suitability after the commencement of the underlying disciplinary proceedings like some of the licensees in the Agencies' caselaw. Mr. Wynn's findings necessarily ended pursuant to Reg. 4.030(10) when his involvement with Wynn Resorts indisputably

23

changed, and *the Board* thereafter removed him from its Location Detail Report for Wynn Las Vegas—both of which occurred long before this action commenced.

Legally, the statutory schemes of other states obviously do not control the interpretation of Nevada's Gaming Control Act. That said, the Agencies' cases are actually instructive because they demonstrate how state legislatures can expressly empower administrative agencies with continuing jurisdiction to pursue discipline after a license lapses, expires or is voluntarily surrendered. Notably, the Nevada Legislature has expressly delegated such power to multiple other agencies charged with overseeing licensed professionals like physicians, massage therapists, and contractors. *See, e.g.*, NRS 630.298; NRS 640C.695; NRS 624.300(8). That a similar delegation of power appears nowhere in NRS Chapter 463 speaks volumes.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IS DE NOVO.

Mr. Wynn agrees this Court reviews a district court's decision regarding subject matter jurisdiction de novo. OB at 13. The Court also reviews questions of statutory interpretation de novo, even in the context of writ proceedings. *Pawlik v. Shyang-Fenn Deng.*, 134 Nev. 83, 85, 412 P.3d 68, 70-71 (2018). Though the agencies acknowledge the latter point, they seek to tilt review in their favor through the principle that courts will "defer to an agency's interpretation of its governing statutes or regulations if the interpretation is within the language of the statute." OB

at 14 (quoting *Taylor v. Dep't of Health & Human Servs.*, 129 Nev. 928, 930, 314 P.3d 949, 951 (2013)). While correctly stated, the principle is inapplicable here.

To begin, the subject statutes and regulations are unambiguous. "An administrative agency's interpretation of a regulation or statute does not control if an alternative reading is compelled by the plain language of the provision." *Local Gov't Employee-Mgmt. Relations Bd. v. Educ. Support Employees Ass'n*, 134 Nev. 716, 720-21, 429 P.3d 658, 662 (2018). Next, the Agencies' interpretations are premised on cherry-picked portions of statutes that disregard other sections of the same statutes as well as Commission regulations that help define the plain meaning of applicable terms. *See* Point III(B)(2) and (3), *infra.* The Agencies' interpretations, accordingly, are not fairly within the language of the statutes. *See Home Warranty Adm'r of Nev., Inc. v. Dep't of Bus. and Indus.,* 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 481 P.3d 1242, 1246-47 (2021) (declining to defer to agency interpretation where hearing officer disregarded applicable statutory definition).

Nor can the Agencies legitimately invoke deferential review by suggesting the district court must have found an ambiguity in NRS 463.1405 because it reviewed subsection (1) in addition to the Agencies' preferred subsections (3) and (4). OB at 22-23. As this Court has explained:

When interpreting a statute, *this court must give its terms their plain meaning, considering its provisions as a whole* so as to read them in a way that would not render words or phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory.
*S. Nev. Homebuilders Ass'n v. Clark Cty.*, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005) (emphasis added); *see also id.* at 451-52, 117 P.3d at 175 ("But this subsection [NRS 278.230(2)] must be read in the context of NRS 278.230(1) and the statutory scheme in which it appears."); *Cable v. State ex rel. its Employers Ins. Co. of Nev.*, 122 Nev. 120, 126, 127 P.3d 528, 532 (2006) ("subsections of a statute will be read together to determine the meaning of the statute."). As we address in more detail below, the Agencies' desire to read NRS 463.1405(3) and (4) in isolation is not only improper, but leads to absurd results.<sup>4</sup>

#### II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED AND WYNN'S PETITION GRANTED MR. FOR WRIT A OF **PROHIBITION.**

Mr. Wynn asked the district court to review the Commission's order through two alternative paths: (i) judicial review pursuant to NRS 463.315, or (ii) a writ of mandamus and/or prohibition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34. The district court determined the Commission's order was not a "final decision or order" under NRS 463.315(1) and, thus, denied judicial review on that basis. (JA 614-15.) The court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Agencies misplace reliance on *State v. Hughes*, 127 Nev. 626, 629 n.2, 261 P.3d 1067, 1069 n.2 (2011). OB at 22. There, the district court initially determined the plain meaning of a statutory term, but ultimately concluded it was ambiguous after consulting *different* statutes. This Court cautioned lower courts not to consult other statutes as extrinsic aids when the statute under consideration is unambiguous. *Id.* The difference here, of course, is that the district court simply considered NRS 463.1405 as a whole, which is entirely proper.

nonetheless determined that a writ of prohibition was proper as Mr. Wynn was challenging the agencies' subject matter jurisdiction and lacked an adequate remedy at law. (JA 615-16.) While Mr. Wynn maintains he was entitled to judicial review under NRS 463.315(1) for the reasons argued below, (*see* JA 432-36), we will not waste resources rearguing those points, but instead move directly to why writ relief is appropriate.

A writ of prohibition is available to arrest or remedy actions taken by a board or tribunal without or in excess of its jurisdiction. *See* NRS 34.320. Writ relief is an extraordinary remedy, which courts will not entertain unless a party is without a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy at law. *See Fulbright & Jaworski v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 131 Nev. 30, 35, 342 P.3d 997, 1001 (2015). While the Agencies are correct to the extent a right to petition for judicial review or to file an appeal is "generally" considered an adequate remedy, OB at 17, this Court has repeatedly instructed that those rights are not adequate to correct an invalid exercise of personal or subject matter jurisdiction.<sup>5</sup> Regardless, "[e]ven if an adequate legal remedy exists, [the] court will consider a writ petition if an important issue of law needs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Fulbright, supra (citing Viega GmbH v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 130 Nev. 368, 373-74, 328 P.3d 1152, 1156 (2014) ("the right to appeal is inadequate to correct an invalid exercise of personal jurisdiction over a defendant")); see also Bd. of Review, Nev. Dep't of Emp't v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct., 133 Nev. 253, 255, 396 P.3d 795, 797 (2017) (requested writ relief was properly before the Court where it "present[ed] an issue of subject matter jurisdiction[] necessitating [] immediate consideration[.]").

clarification." *In re Beatrice B. Davis Family Heritage Trust*, 133 Nev. 190, 194, 394 P.3d 1203, 1207 (2017). All these considerations exist here.

Mr. Wynn is challenging the Agencies' subject matter jurisdiction, which is appropriate to consider via a petition for writ relief. The lack of an adequate legal remedy is obvious as it would be a tremendous waste of resources to go through discovery and a substantive evidentiary hearing if the Agencies lack subject matter jurisdiction at the outset. Indeed, the harm to Mr. Wynn and his reputation would be irreparable once the public hearing is held, rendering any future appellate relief on the jurisdictional issue a hollow victory. Even if an adequate legal remedy arguably exists, Mr. Wynn's petition presents an important issue of first impression that is capable of recurring and requires clarification—*i.e.*, whether the Nevada Legislature expressly or impliedly authorized Nevada's gaming regulators to discipline an individual who no longer has any involvement with a Nevada gaming licensee.

The Agencies' concern about improper judicial intrusion into disciplinary proceedings under the Act is grossly overblown. OB at 2, 17. As a threshold matter, the Agencies both recognized that the district court had discretion to entertain Mr. Wynn's writ petition. *See supra* at 4, 16-17. While certain decisions in the gaming context are not subject to judicial intervention, *see, e.g.*, NRS 463.318(2) (no judicial review of licensing denials), other statutory provisions expressly authorize a role for

the courts. *See id.* ([e]xtraordinary common-law writs or equitable proceedings are available"); *see also* NRS 463.343 (permitting declaratory relief actions to obtain judicial interpretation of gaming statutes). Such provisions are entirely consistent with well-established exceptions to the exhaustion of administrative remedies doctrine that permit judicial intervention in the gaming context and that of other administrative agencies.

The exhaustion doctrine, for example, "does not require one to initiate and participate in proceedings where an administrative agency clearly lacks jurisdiction, or which are vain and futile." *Engelmann v. Westergard*, 98 Nev. 348, 353, 647 P.2d 385, 388-89 (1982). Nor does the doctrine apply where the issues relate solely to the interpretation of statutes. *See State Dep't of Bus. & Indus. v. Check City*, 130 Nev. 909, 914, 337 P.3d 755, 758 (2014) ("Exhaustion is not required where, as here, the only issue is the interpretation of a statute."). The Court has expressly applied this exception in the gaming context. *See Glusman*, 98 Nev. at 419, 651 P.2d at 644 ("it is within our discretion not to apply the exhaustion doctrine especially where the issues relate solely to the interpretation or constitutionality of a statute.").

Unlike other litigants disappointed with actions of the Board or the Commission, Mr. Wynn did not attempt to circumvent the Agencies and proceed straight to court. He instead presented his jurisdictional arguments directly to the Commission pursuant to a stipulation agreed to by the Board and approved by the Commission Chair. (JA 24-26.) Mr. Wynn only proceeded to district court after the Commission ruled and, again, he did so in compliance with another Commissionapproved stipulation. (JA 262-64.) The subject legal issues present important questions of first impression, turn exclusively on the interpretation of statutes, and have been fully developed before the Commission and the district court. For all these reasons, this matter is appropriate for the Court's consideration. *See Glusman*, 99 Nev. at 419, 651 P.2d at 644 (magnitude of the legal issues and likelihood of future recurrence justified a "present determination on the merits").<sup>6</sup>

### III. THE AGENCIES LACK JURISDICTION TO PURSUE AND IMPOSE DISCIPLINE AGAINST THOSE NO LONGER INVOLVED WITH LICENSED GAMING OPERATIONS.

#### A. The Agencies Have No Inherent Regulatory Powers Beyond Those Expressly Granted or Clearly Implied by Statute.

The Commission and the Board are state administrative agencies created by

the Act. See NRS 463.022 (creation of Commission); NRS 463.030 (creation of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Agencies' examples of improper "judicial interference" are easily distinguishable. OB at 2, 17 (citing *Gaming Control Bd.*, 82 Nev. at 40, 409 P.2d at 975 and *State v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 111 Nev. 1023, 899 P.2d 1121 (1995)). In *Gaming Control Bd.*, the licensee proceeded directly to district court and improperly obtained a stay of the Board's disciplinary action. 82 Nev. at 39-40; 409 P.2d at 974-75. In *State*, the Commission issued an exclusionary order against a gaming customer who then sought and obtained a stay of execution from the district court. 111 Nev. at 1121-22, 899 P.2d at 1024-25. This Court overturned both decisions as only the Commission is empowered to stay its own rulings or proceedings. *See* NRS 463.315(5). Here, as explained above, all parties agreed (twice) that the substantive disciplinary proceedings would be stayed pending final resolution of the threshold jurisdictional issue.

Board). As administrative agencies, the Commission and the Board have "no general or common law powers, but only such powers as have been conferred by law expressly or by implication." *Andrews v. Nevada State Bd. of Cosmetology*, 86 Nev. 207, 208, 467 P.2d 96, 96 (1970). "Administrative agencies cannot enlarge their own jurisdiction nor is subject matter jurisdiction conferred upon an agency by consent or failure to raise the agency's lack of jurisdiction." *S. Nev. Mem'l Hosp.*, 101 Nev. at 394, 705 P.2d at 144; *see also Andrews*, 86 Nev. at 208, 467 P.2d at 97 ("Official powers of an administrative agency cannot be assumed by the agency, nor can they be created by the courts in the exercise of their judicial function.").

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